
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING
AGENDA

March 26, 2025

Health Care District Palm Beach County
1515 N. Flagler Drive, Suite 101, West Palm Beach, FL 33401

Remote Participation Link: https://zoom.us/j/5507895592?pwd=REZ4TWtYUXowQWNpWTBaVXRsZ1dDQT09

Telephone Dial-in Access: (646) 558-8656 / Meeting ID: 550 789 5592 / Password: 94650

1. Call to Order – Joseph Gibbons, Chair

A. Roll Call

B. Affirmation of Mission:  To provide compassionate, comprehensive 
health services to all Palm Beach County residents, through 
collaboration and partnership, in a culturally sensitive environment.

2. Agenda Approval

A. Additions/Deletions/Substitutions

B. MOTION TO APPROVE: Agenda

3. Awards, Introductions and Presentations
A.        UDS Presentation

       (Steven Sadiku)

4. Disclosure of Voting Conflict

5. Public Comment
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6. Meeting Minutes  

A. MOTION TO APPROVE: 
Special Board Meeting Minutes of February 26, 2025 [Pages 1-2]  

B. MOTION TO APPROVE: 
Board Meeting Minutes of February 26, 2025 [Pages 2-8]  

7.   CONSENT AGENDA:  
MOTION TO APPROVE:  Consent Agenda Items  

A. ADMINISTRATION

7A-1    RECEIVE AND FILE:
March 2025 Internet Posting of District Public Meeting
https://www.hcdpbc.org/resources/public-meetings

7A-2    RECEIVE AND FILE:
Attendance Tracking [Page 9] 

7A-3    RECEIVE AND FILE:
HRSA Digest [Pages 10-14] 

B. FINANCE

7B-1    MOTION TO APPROVE:
District Clinic Holdings, Inc. Jan 2025 Financial Report 
(Jessica Cafarelli) [Pages 15-33] 

8.  REGULAR AGENDA:   
A. ADMINISTRATION 

8A-1    MOTION TO APPROVE:
FY24 Financial Statement Audit
(Anil Harris and Kirk Cornack, RSM) [Pages 34-93] 
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8A-2    MOTION TO APPROVE:
Sliding Fee Discount Policy
(Jessica Cafarelli) [Pages 94-101] 

B. EXECUTIVE 

8B-1   RECEIVE AND FILE:
Executive Director Informational Update 
(Dr. Joshua Adametz) [Pages 102-103]   

C. CREDENTIALING

8C-1   MOTION TO APPROVE:
LIP Credentialing and Privileging
(Dr. Ana Ferwerda) [Pages 104-106]  

D. QUALITY

8D-1   MOTION TO APPROVE:
Quality Report
(Dr. Ana Ferwerda) [Pages 107-128]  

E. OPERATIONS

8E-1   MOTION TO APPROVE:
Operations Report
(Nancy Gonzalez) [Pages 129-131] 

9.  Dr. Joshua Adametz, AVP & Executive Director 
of Community Health Center Comments

10. Board Member Comments
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11.    Establishment of Upcoming Meetings
April 23, 2025 (TBD)  
12:30 p.m. 

May 28, 2025 (TBD)  
12:30 p.m. 

June 25, 2025 (TBD)  
12:30 p.m. 

July 23, 2025 (TBD)  
12:30 p.m. 

August 27, 2025 (TBD)  
12:30 p.m. 

September 24, 2025 (TBD)  
12:30 p.m. 

October 22, 2025 (TBD)  
12:30 p.m.

November 19, 2025 (TBD)  
12:30 p.m. 

December 17, 2025 (TBD)  
12:30 p.m. 

12. Motion to Adjourn Public Meeting
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DISTRICT CLINIC HOLDINGS, INC.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

March 26, 2025 

1. Description: HRSA Digest
2. Summary:

Per the request of the Clinic Board, we will include the latest HRSA Digest
updates as available.

3. Substantive Analysis:

The March HRSA Digest highlighted Patient Safety Awareness Week, Access to
funda, UDS+ Profiles, and 340b Registration

4. Fiscal Analysis & Economic Impact Statement:

Current FY 
Amounts

Total Amounts
(Current + Future)

Budget

Capital Requirements N/A Yes No 
Net Operating Impact N/A Yes No 

*Non-budgeted expenditures in excess of $250,000 require Finance and Audit Committee review and Board
approval. Reviewed for financial accuracy and compliance with purchasing procedure:

N/A
Jessica Cafarelli

VP & Chief Financial Officer

5. Reviewed/Approved by Committee:

N/A N/A

Committee Name Date Approved

6. Recommendation:

Staff recommends the Board Receive and File the HRSA Digest.

Approved for Legal sufficiency:

        Bernabe Icaza
  SVP & General Counsel

Joshua Adametz, DMD, MPH, MA
AVP & Executive Director of Community

Health Centers
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DISTRICT CLINIC HOLDINGS, INC.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

March 26, 2025 

1. Description: District Clinic Holdings, Inc. Financial Report January 2025

2. Summary:

The January 2025 financial statements for the District Clinic Holdings, Inc. are
presented for Board review.

3. Substantive Analysis:

Management has provided the income statements and key statistical
information for District Clinic Holdings, Inc.  Additional Management discussion
and analysis is incorporated into the financial statement presentation.

4. Fiscal Analysis & Economic Impact Statement:

Current FY 
Amounts

Total Amounts
(Current + Future)

Budget

Capital Requirements N/A Yes No 
Net Operating Impact N/A Yes No 

*Non-budgeted expenditures in excess of $250,000 require Finance and Audit Committee review and Board
approval. Reviewed for financial accuracy and compliance with purchasing procedure:

N/A
Jessica Cafarelli

VP & Chief Financial Officer

5. Reviewed/Approved by Committee:

DCHI Finance Committee 3/26/25
Committee Name Date Approved

15



DISTRICT CLINIC HOLDINGS, INC.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

March 26, 2025 

6. Recommendation:

Staff recommends the Board approve the January 2025 District Clinic
Holdings, Inc. financial statements.

Approved for Legal sufficiency:

        Bernabe Icaza
  SVP & General Counsel

        Jessica Cafarelli
  VP & Chief Financial Officer

Joshua Adametz, DMD, MPH, MA
AVP & Executive Director of Community

Health Centers
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MEMO

To: Finance Committee

From: Jessica Cafarelli
VP, Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 26, 2025 

Subject: Management Discussion and Analysis as of January 2025 C.L. Brumback Primary Care Clinic Financial 

Statements.  

The January financial statements represent the financial performance through the fourth month of the 2025 fiscal 

year for the C.L. Brumback Primary Care Clinics.  On the Comparative Statement of Net Position, total assets 

decreased $963k.  Due from Other Governments decreased $699k primarily as a result of HRSA drawdown 

payment.  Cash increased by $238k from normal business activities. 

On the Statement of Revenues and Expenses, net patient revenue YTD was unfavorable to budget by ($345k) or 

(7.2%) primarily due to unanticipated increases in charity care and bad debt classification.  Gross patient revenue 

YTD was favorable to budget by $737k.  Total YTD revenues were unfavorable to budget by ($1.6M) or (18.7%). 

YTD Grant revenue is unfavorable by ($1.2M) due to grant accrual timing as well as unanticipated reduction in 

funding. Several grants that were budgeted were not awarded which accounts for approximately $542k of the 

unfavorable variance. At this time, staff does not anticipate additional grants being awarded and recognized this 

fiscal year. To offset this variance, staff identified opportunities to reduce expenses to remain within budget. 

Operational expenses before depreciation were favorable to budget by $3.4M due to timing differences in expenses 

and staffing.   Positive variances YTD in salaries, wages, and benefits were $3.0M.  YTD net margin was a loss of 

($8.7M) compared to the budgeted loss of ($11.3M) resulting in a favorable variance of $2.6M or (23.0%).  YTD, 

the District has transferred in $7.3M to fund clinic operations.

Net patient revenue YTD for the Medical clinics was unfavorable to budget by ($222k).  The Medical clinics YTD 

gross patient revenue was favorable to budget by $235k.  The Medical clinics total YTD revenue was unfavorable 

to budget by ($1.2M) due primarily to a decrease in grant revenue as well as unanticipated increased bad debt 

allowance.  Grant revenue recognition had a negative impact on overall revenue of ($1.0M).  Total operating

expenses of $8.9M were favorable to budget of $10.5M by $1.7M or 16.0%.  The positive variance is mostly due to 

salaries, wages, and benefits of $1.3M, and medical supplies of $255k . Timing differences in expenses and staffing 

are driving these favorable YTD variances.  YTD net margin was a loss of ($6.7M) compared to the budgeted loss 

of ($7.8M) resulting in a favorable variance of $1.0M or (13.1%).

Net patient revenue YTD for the Dental clinics was unfavorable to budget by ($196k).  The Dental clinics total YTD

gross patient revenue was unfavorable to budget by ($380k).  Total YTD operating expenses of $1.8M were

favorable to budget by $273k, with timing differences in staffing primarily accounting for this favorable variance. 

Total YTD net margin was favorable to budget by $119k or (10.5%).  
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DISTRICT CLINIC HOLDINGS, INC.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

March 26, 2025 

1. Description: 2024 Financial Statement Audits

2. Summary:

The 2024 audited financial statements are being provided for Board
review and approval.

District Clinic Holdings, Inc. (Clinics)
Single Audit Report (District)

3. Substantive Analysis:

The District’s external auditor, RSM US LLP, completed the audit 
procedures for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024. The annual 
financial statement has an unmodified opinion noting that the 
balances are fairly stated. 

4. Fiscal Analysis & Economic Impact Statement:

Current FY 
Amounts

Total Amounts
(Current + Future)

Budget

Capital Requirements N/A Yes No 
Net Operating Impact N/A Yes No 

*Non-budgeted expenditures in excess of $250,000 require Finance and Audit Committee review and Board
approval. Reviewed for financial accuracy and compliance with purchasing procedure:

N/A
Jessica Cafarelli

VP & Chief Financial Officer

5. Reviewed/Approved by Committee:

N/A N/A
Committee Name Date Approved
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DISTRICT CLINIC HOLDINGS, INC.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

March 26, 2025 

6. Recommendation:

Staff recommends the Board approve the 2024 audited annual financial
reports. 

Approved for Legal sufficiency:

        Bernabe Icaza
  SVP & General Counsel

        Jessica Cafarelli
  VP & Chief Financial Officer

Joshua Adametz, DMD, MPH, MA
AVP & Executive Director of Community

Health Centers
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District Clinic Holdings, Inc.  
(A Component Unit of the Health Care 
District of Palm Beach County, 
Florida 
Report to the Board of Directors and Finance and 
Audit Committee Members 
March 10, 2025 
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1555 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd 
Suite 500 

West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2333 

T +1 561 697 1785 
F +1 561 697 8055 

www.rsmus.com 

March 10, 2025 

Board of Directors and Finance and Audit Committee Members 
District Clinic Holdings, Inc. 
West Palm Beach, Florida  

Attention: Board and Committee Members  

We are pleased to present this report related to our 2024 audit of District Clinic Holdings, Inc.�s (the 
Clinics), a component unit of the Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida (the District), 
financial statements. Our report summarizes certain matters required by professional standards to be 
communicated to you in your oversight responsibility for the Clinics� financial reporting process.  

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors, Finance and Audit 
Committee Members and management, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone 
other than these specified parties. It will be our pleasure to respond to any questions you have about this 
report. We appreciate the opportunity to continue to be of service to the Clinics. 
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REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS 

The following required communications summarize our responsibilities regarding the financial statement 
audit as well as observations from our audit that are significant and relevant to your responsibility to 
oversee the financial reporting process. 

Our Responsibilities  

We described our responsibilities under auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, to 
you in our engagement letter dated September 4, 2024. Our audit of the financial statements does not 
relieve management or you of your responsibilities, which are also described in that letter. 

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 

We previously issued a separate communication dated January 22, 2025, regarding the planned scope 
and timing of our audit and identified significant risks.  

Accounting Policies and Practices 

Preferability of Accounting Policies and Practices 
Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, in certain circumstances, 
management may select among alternative accounting practices. In our view, in such circumstances, 
management has selected the preferable accounting practice. 

Adoption of, or Change in, Accounting Policies 
Management has the ultimate responsibility for the appropriateness of the accounting policies used by the 
Clinics. The following is a description of significant accounting policies or their application that were either 
initially selected or changed during the year:  

In June 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections�an
amendment of GASB Statement No. 62. The statement improves the accounting and financial
reporting requirements for accounting changes and error corrections to provide more understandable,
reliable, relevant, consistent, and comparable information for making decisions or assessing
accountability. Effective October 1, 2023, the Clinics adopted this Statement with no material effect.

Significant Accounting Policies 
We did not identify any significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there 
is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 

Significant Unusual Transactions 
We did not identify any significant unusual transactions.   

Management�s Judgments and Accounting Estimates  
Summary information about the process used by management in formulating particularly sensitive 
accounting estimates and about our conclusions regarding the reasonableness of those estimates is in 
the attached Summary of Significant Accounting Estimates. 

Audit Adjustments and Uncorrected Misstatements  

There were no audit adjustments made to the original trial balance presented to us to begin our audit. 

We are not aware of any uncorrected misstatements other than misstatements that are clearly trivial. 
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Observations About the Audit Process  

Disagreements With Management  
We encountered no disagreements with management over the application of significant accounting 
principles, the basis for management�s judgments on any significant matters, the scope of the audit or 
significant disclosures to be included in the financial statements.  

Consultations With Other Accountants 
We are not aware of any consultations management had with other accountants about accounting or 
auditing matters.  

Significant Issues Discussed With Management 
No significant issues arising from the audit were discussed or were the subject of correspondence with 
management.  

Significant Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
We did not encounter any significant difficulties in dealing with management during the audit.  

Significant Matters That Required Consultation 
We did not encounter any difficult or contentious matters that required consultation outside the 
engagement team and that are, in our professional judgment, significant and relevant to your 
responsibility to oversee the financial reporting process. 

Shared Responsibilities for Independence 

Auditor independence is a joint responsibility and is managed most effectively when management, 
audit committees (or their equivalents) and audit firms work together in considering compliance with 
applicable AICPA and Government Accountability Office (GAO) independence rules. For RSM to fulfill its 
professional responsibility to maintain and monitor independence, management, the finance and audit 
committee, the board of directors and RSM each play an important role. 

Our Responsibilities 
AICPA and GAO rules require independence both of mind and in appearance when providing audit
and other attestation services. RSM is to ensure that the AICPA and GAO�s General Requirements
for performing non-attest services are adhered to and included in all letters of engagement.
Maintain a system of quality management over compliance with independence rules and firm policies.

The Clinics� Responsibilities 
Timely inform RSM, before the effective date of transactions or other business changes, of the
following:

New affiliates, directors or officers.
New beneficial owners of the Clinics which have significant influence.
Change in corporate structure impacting affiliates such as add-on acquisitions or exits.

Provide necessary affiliate information such as new or updated investment structure charts, as well
as financial information required to perform materiality calculations needed for making affiliate
determinations.
Understand and conclude on the permissibility, prior to the Clinic and its affiliates, officers, directors
or persons in a decision-making capacity, engaging in business relationships with RSM. Not entering
into relationships resulting in close family members of RSM covered persons, temporarily or
permanently acting as an officer, director or person in an accounting or financial reporting oversight
role at the Clinics.
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Internal Control Matters  

We have issued, as part of the audited financial statement package, our Independent Auditor�s Report on 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of 
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 

Significant Written Communications Between Management and Our Firm  

Copies of significant written communications between our firm and the management of the Clinics, 
including the representation letter provided to us by management, are attached as Appendix A. 
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the preparation of financial statements and are based upon 
management�s current judgment. The process used by management encompasses their knowledge and 
experience about past and current events, and certain assumptions about future events. You may wish to 
monitor throughout the year the process used to determine and record these accounting estimates. The 
following summarizes the significant accounting estimates reflected in the Clinics� September 30, 2024 
financial statements. 

Significant Accounting Estimates 

Allowances for doubtful accounts and contractual discounts 

Accounting policy Accounts receivables are reduced to their estimated net collectible 
amounts. 

Management�s estimation 
process 

Accounts receivables from third-party payors are reported at the 
estimated realizable amount. Contractual allowances are based on 
management�s review of historical experience and contract provisions. 

Management determines the allowance for doubtful accounts for self-pay 
patients, co-insurance and deductibles by identifying potentially 
uncollectible accounts by historical experience and by considering 
financial and credit history, and current economic conditions. 

Basis for our conclusion 
on the reasonableness of 
the estimate 

We tested the propriety of information underlying management�s 
estimates, including the patient aging reports utilized by management to 
obtain the gross accounts receivables balances and reperformance of the 
hindsight analysis used to analyze the adequacy of the year end 
allowances. We also developed our own independent estimate of the net 
accounts receivables balance in order to compare our results to 
management�s estimate. 

We reviewed management�s methodology which appears properly and 
consistently applied and have deemed the resulting estimate to be 
reasonable. 

Self-insurance liabilities (employee health, medical malpractice and general liability) 

Accounting policy A liability for unpaid claims and estimated incurred but not reported claims 
and their related anticipated insurance recoveries are estimated in the 
period that claims are incurred and adjusted in future periods as final 
settlements are determined. 

Management�s estimation 
process 

Management�s liability estimates are based on actuarial studies and both 
current and historical claims information. 

Basis for our conclusion 
on the reasonableness of 
the estimate 

We tested the propriety of information underlying management�s 
estimates, including verification of information provided to the actuary, 
confirmation with legal counsel and testing of claim activity. 
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APPENDIX A 

Significant Written Communications Between 
Management and Our Firm 
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March 10, 2025

RSM US LLP

1555 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd, Suite 500
West Palm Beach, Florida, 33401

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements 
of District Clinic Holdings, Inc. (the Clinics), a component unit of the Health Care District of 
Palm Beach County, Florida (the District) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2024, for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on whether the financial statements are presented 
fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America (U.S. GAAP).

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, that as of the date of this letter:

Financial Statements

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement
letter dated September 4, 2024, for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements referred to above in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

2. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

3. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of
controls to prevent and detect fraud.

4. The methods, data, and significant assumptions used by us in making accounting
estimates and their related disclosures are appropriate to achieve recognition,
measurement, or disclosure that is reasonable in the context of U.S. GAAP, and reflect our
judgment based on our knowledge and experience about past and current events, and
our assumptions about conditions we expect to exist and courses of action we expect to
take.
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5. The methods, assumptions and data used to estimate Allowances for Doubtful Accounts
and Contractual Discounts and Self-Insured Liabilities are as follows, and result in an
estimate that is appropriate for financial statement measurement and disclosure
purposes and have been consistently selected and applied in making the estimate:

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Contractual Discounts The Clinics recognizes
revenue in the period in which services are rendered. Net patient service revenue is
measured at estimated net realizable amounts due from patients, third-party payors,
and others for services rendered. An allowance for contractual adjustments is
established for unbilled and billed accounts for which contractual adjustments are
not recorded at the time of billing or where the recorded contractual is not sufficient,
based on 

Self-Insurance Liabilities Accruals are based on estimated ultimate losses and costs
associated with settling claims and the relationship of past reported claims to
eventual claim payments. The accrual includes an estimate of the losses that will
result from unreported claims, which are probable of having occurred before the end

studies based on both current and historical information.

Claims payable A liability for medical claims is recognized for unpaid claims and
estimated incurred but not reported claims. The estimate of the unpaid claims is
based on actuarial studies. The actuary uses subsequent claims run-out and both
current and prior claims experience to actuarially determine the amount of the
estimated liabilities.

Significant judgments made in making the estimate have taken into account all relevant 
information of which we are aware. All disclosures related to the estimates, including 
disclosures describing estimation uncertainty, are complete and reasonable in the 
context of U.S. GAAP. No subsequent events have occurred that would require adjustment 
to the estimate and related disclosures included in the financial statements.

6. Related-party transactions have been recorded in accordance with the economic
substance of the transaction and appropriately accounted for and disclosed in
accordance with the requirements of U.S. GAAP. Types of related party transactions
engaged in by the Clinics include:
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a. Those with the District (primary government) having accountability for the Clinics.

b. Interfund transactions, including interfund accounts receivable and payable, sale and
purchase transactions, interfund transfers and operating & capital contributions.

7. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements, and for which U.S. GAAP
requires adjustment or disclosure, have been adjusted or disclosed.

8. The effects of all known actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for
and disclosed in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

9. Management has followed applicable laws and regulations in adopting, approving and
amending budgets.

10. Risk disclosures associated with deposit and investment securities transactions are
presented in accordance with GASB requirements.

11. Provisions for uncollectible receivables have been properly identified and recorded.

12. Capital assets, including infrastructure, intangible assets, and right of use assets are
properly capitalized, reported and, if applicable, depreciated.

13. Components of net position (net investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted)
are properly classified and, if applicable, approved.

14. Revenues are appropriately classified in the financial statements.

15. Expenses have been appropriately classified in the financial statements.

16. Interfund, internal, and intra-entity activity and balances have been appropriately
classified and reported.
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17.

when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net
position is available are appropriately disclosed and the net position is properly
recognized under the policy.

18. Leases have been properly identified, recorded and disclosed in accordance with GASB
Statement No. 87, Leases.

19. Subscription-based technology information arrangements (SBITAs) have been properly
identified, recorded and disclosed in accordance with GASB Statement No. 96,
Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements.

20. With respect to receivables:

a. Adequate consideration has been given to, and appropriate provision made for,
estimated adjustments to revenue, such as for denied claims and changes to
resource utilization group, ambulatory payment classification, DSH and LIP
settlements, and DRG assignments, as applicable.

b. Recorded valuation allowances are necessary, appropriate, and properly supported.

c. All peer review organizations, fiscal intermediary, and third-party payor reports and
information have been made available.

21. With respect to cost reports:

a. All required Medicare, Medicaid, and similar reports have been properly filed.

b. Management is responsible for the accuracy and propriety of all filed cost reports.

c. All costs reflected on such reports are appropriate and allowable under applicable
reimbursement rules and regulations and are patient-related and properly allocated
to applicable payors.

d. The employed reimbursement methodologies and principles are in accordance with
applicable rules and regulations.
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e. Adequate consideration has been given to, and appropriate provision made for, audit
adjustments by intermediaries, third-party payors, or other regulatory agencies.

f. All items required to be disclosed, including disputed costs that are being claimed to
establish a basis for a subsequent appeal, have been fully disclosed in the cost report.

g. Recorded third-party settlements include differences between filed (and to-be-filed)
cost reports and calculated settlements, which are necessary based on historical
experience or new or ambiguous regulations that may be subject to differing
interpretations. Although management believes that the entity is entitled to all
amounts claimed on the cost reports, management also believes the amounts of
these differences are appropriate.

22. With respect to contingencies:

a. There are no instances of noncompliance with laws or regulations, such as those
related to Medicare and Medicaid antifraud and abuse statutes, in any jurisdiction,
whose effects are considered for disclosure in the financial statements or as a basis for
recording a loss contingency other than those disclosed or accrued in the financial
statements. This is including, but not limited to, the anti-kickback statute of the
Medicare and Medicaid Patient and Program Protection Act of 1987, limitations on
certain physician referrals (the Stark law) and the False Claims Act.

b. Billings to third-party payors comply in all material respects with applicable coding
guidelines (for example, ICD-10 and CPT-4) and laws and regulations, including those
dealing with Medicare and Medicaid antifraud and abuse, and billings reflect only
charges for goods and services that were medically necessary; properly approved by
regulatory bodies (for example, the Food and Drug Administration), if required; and
properly rendered.

c. There have been no internal or external investigations relating to compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, including investigations in progress that would have
an effect on the amounts reported in the financial statements or on the disclosure in
the notes to the financial statements.

d. There have been no oral or written communications from regulatory agencies,
governmental representatives, employees, or others concerning investigations or
allegations of noncompliance with laws and regulations in any jurisdiction, including
those related to Medicare and Medicaid antifraud and abuse statutes; deficiencies in
financial reporting practices; or other matters that could have a material adverse effect
on the financial statements.
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e. Adequate consideration has been given to, and appropriate provision made for, a
ervices.

f. Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the health care entity is contingently
liable, including guarantee contracts and indemnification agreements have been
properly recorded or disclosed in the financial statements.

g. We continue to maintain commercial insurance for general liability, director and officer

business. Management periodically reviews such insurance coverages and intends to
maintain appropriate levels of insurance coverage to address such risks.

23. We have no direct or indirect legal or moral obligation for any debt of any organization,
public or private, or to special assessment bond holders, that is not disclosed in the
financial statements.

24. We have complied with all aspects of laws, regulations and provisions of contracts and
agreements that would have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of
noncompliance.

25. The District is legally obligated to maintain the continued operations of the Clinics for the
benefit of the public. The District will continue to subsidize the operations of the Clinics
through operating contributions on an annual basis.

26. We have reviewed the GASB Statements effective for the fiscal year ended September 30,
2024, and concluded the implementation of GASB Statement No. No. 100, Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections an amendment of GASB Statement No. 62 did not have a
material impact on the basic financial statements.

27. We have no knowledge of any uncorrected misstatements in the financial statements.

28.

statements and agree that t
modified in any manner.
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Information Provided

29. We have provided you with:

a. Access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of the basic financial statements such as records,
documentation and other matters.

b. Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit.

c. Unrestricted access to persons within the Clinics from whom you determined it
necessary to obtain audit evidence.

d. Minutes of the meetings of the board of directors and committees, or summaries of
actions of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared.

30. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the
basic financial statements.

31. It is our responsibility to establish and maintain internal control over financial reporting. One
rol is risk assessment. We hereby

represent that our risk assessment process includes identification and assessment of risks
of material misstatement due to fraud. We have shared with you our fraud risk assessment,
including a description of the risks, our assessment of the magnitude and likelihood of
misstatements arising from those risks, and the controls that we have designed and
implemented in response to those risks.

32. We have no knowledge of allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Clinics
basic financial statements involving:

a. Management.

b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control.
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c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the basic financial statements.

33. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or 
basic financial statements received in communications from employees, former
employees, analysts, regulators, or others.

34. We have no knowledge of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with laws and
regulations.

35. We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation, claims or assessments;
unasserted claims or assessments that are probable of assertion and must be disclosed in
accordance with Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Codification Section
C50, Claims and Judgments; and other matters, including gain or loss contingencies,
whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements.

36. Unasserted claims or assessments have been properly disclosed in accordance with
GASB Codification Section C50.

37. related parties and all the
related-party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

38. We are aware of no deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting, including
significant deficiencies or material weaknesses, in the design or operation of internal

report financial data.

39. There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning
noncompliance with, or deficiencies in, financial reporting practices.

40. It is our responsibility to inform you of all current and potential affiliates of the Clinics as

1.224.020). Financial interests in, and other relationships with, affiliates of the Clinics may
create threats to independence.

We have:
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a. Provided you with all information we are aware of with respect to current and potential
affiliates, including degree of influence assessments and materiality assessments.

b. Notified you of all changes to relevant considerations that may impact our
determination of the existence of current or potential affiliates involving (i) changes in

process or (iii) the level of control or influence the Clinics or a potential or current
affiliate has over an investee that is not trivial or clearly inconsequential, sufficiently in
advance of their effective dates to enable the Clinics and RSM US LLP to identify and
eliminate potential impermissible services and relationships between RSM US LLP or its
associated entities and those potential affiliates, prior to the effective dates.

c. Made you aware, to the best of our knowledge and belief, of any nonaudit services
that the Clinics or any of our affiliates has engaged RSM US LLP or any of its associated
entities to perform.

41. We agree with the findings of the specialists in evaluating professional and general liability
and the other post-employment benefits (OPEB) liability and have adequately considered
the qualifications of the specialists in determining the amounts and disclosures used in the
financial statements and underlying accounting records. We did not give instructions, or
cause any instructions to be given, to the specialists with respect to the values or amounts
derived in an attempt to bias their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters
that have had an impact on the independence or objectivity of the specialists.

42. We believe that the actuarial assumptions and methods used by the actuaries for
evaluating the professional and general liability and other post-employment benefits
(OPEB) liability are appropriate in the circumstances. We did not give instructions, or cause
any instructions to be given, to the actuary with respect to the values or amounts derived
in an attempt to bias their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters that have
had an impact on the independence or objectivity of the  actuaries.

43. During the course of your audit, you may have accumulated records containing data that
should be reflected in our books and records. All such data have been so reflected.
Accordingly, copies of such records in your possession are no longer needed by us.
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Supplementary Information

44. With respect to the schedule of changes in the total other post-employment benefits
(OPEB) liability and related ratios, presented as required by U.S GAAP to supplement the
basic financial statements:

a. We acknowledge our responsibility for the presentation of such required
supplementary information.

b. We believe such required supplementary information is measured and presented in
accordance with guidelines prescribed by U.S. GAAP.

c. The methods of measurement or presentation have not changed from those used in
the prior period.

d. The underlying significant assumptions or interpretations regarding the measurement
or presentation of such information are the discount rate, mortality rate and healthcare
cost trend rate.

Compliance Considerations

In connection with your audit conducted in accordance with Government Auditing Standards, 
we confirm that management: 

45. Is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

46. Is responsible for compliance with the laws, regulations and provisions of contracts and
grant agreements applicable to the auditee.

47. Is not aware of any instances of identified and suspected fraud and noncompliance with
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements that have a material effect
on the financial statements.
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48. Is responsible for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

49. Acknowledges its responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of
controls to prevent and detect fraud.

50. Has a process to track the status of audit findings and recommendations (when
applicable).

51. Has identified for the auditor previous audits, attestation engagements and other studies
related to the objectives of the audit and whether related recommendations have been
implemented (when applicable).

52. Is not aware of any investigations or legal proceedings that have been initiated with
respect to the period under audit.

53. With respect to non-attest services performed by you in the course of the audits:

a. We have made all management decisions and performed all management functions;

b. We have designated Jessica Cafarelli, VP & Chief Financial Officer, who possesses
suitable skill, knowledge or experience to oversee the services;

c. We evaluated the adequacy and results of the services performed, and made an
informed judgment on the results of the services performed;

d. We have accepted responsibility for the results of the services; and

e. We have accepted responsibility for all significant judgments and decisions that were
made.
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District Clinic Holdings, Inc.

Darcy J. Davis
President & Chief Executive Officer

Jessica Cafarelli, CPA
VP & Chief Financial Officer

_
Mark Early, CPA, MBA
Manager, Accounting and Financial Reporting
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Independent Auditor's Report 

Board of Directors 
District Clinic Holdings, Inc.  

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of District Clinic Holdings, Inc. (the Clinics), a component unit of 
the Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida, as of and for the year ended September 30, 
2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Clinics� basic 
financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Clinics, as of September 30, 2024, and the changes in financial 
position and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Clinics, and to 
meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our 
audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Clinics� ability to continue as a 
going concern for 12 months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Clinics� internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about the Clinics� ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable
period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information  
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the schedule of 
changes in the total OPEB liability and related ratios be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be 
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management about 
the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 
express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Management has omitted the management's discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic or historical 
context. Our opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected by this missing information.
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 10, 
2025, on our consideration of the Clinics� internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Clinics� internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the 
Clinics� internal control over financial reporting and compliance.  

West Palm Beach, Florida 
March 10, 2025 
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District Clinic Holdings, Inc.
(A Component Unit of the Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida)

Statement of Net Position
September 30, 2024

Assets

Current assets:
Patient accounts receivable, net 2,359,545  $       
Grant receivable 2,149,730        
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 295,530        

Total current assets 4,804,805   

Capital assets and right-to-use leased and SBITA assets:
Construction in progress 2,621,603   
Depreciable capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 2,876,146   
Right-to-use leased and SBITA assets, net of accumulated amortization 4,036,749   

Total assets 14,339,303   

Deferred outflows of resources related to other post-employment benefit plan 45,186     

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 14,384,489  $     

Liabilities

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 587,381  $  
Accrued salaries and benefits 1,862,198   
Accrued interest payable 16,674     
Unearned grant revenue 2,503    
Current portion of accrued compensated absences 306,915   
Current portion of estimated self-insured liability 2,063    
Current portion of lease and SBITA payable 566,159   

Total current liabilities 3,343,893   

Accrued compensated absences, less current portion 1,151,777   
Estimated self-insured liability, less current portion 1,888    
Lease and SBITA payable, less current portion 3,794,791   
Other postemployment benefits liabilities 78,433     

Total liabilities 8,370,782   

Deferred inflows of resources related to other post-employment benefit plan 66,853     

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 8,437,635  $       

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets 5,156,874  $       
Unrestricted 789,980        

Total net position 5,946,854   

Total net position, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 14,384,489  $     

See notes to financial statements.
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District Clinic Holdings, Inc.
(A Component Unit of the Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida)

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024

Operating revenues:
Patient service revenue, net of provision for bad debts of $5,135,689 13,380,111  $     
Other operating revenues 96,436             

Total operating revenues 13,476,547      

Operating expenses:
Medical services 30,354,294      
Fiscal and general administrative services 16,664,711      
Depreciation and amortization 1,070,026        

Total operating expenses 48,089,031      

Operating loss (34,612,484)     

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Grant revenue 8,673,150        
Loss on disposal of capital assets (17,095)            
Interest expense on leases and SBITA (215,283)          
Interest income 1,943     

Total nonoperating revenues 8,442,715        

Loss before District contributions (26,169,769)     

District contributions:
Operating contributions 25,147,405      
Capital contributions 2,461,887        

Total District contributions 27,609,292      

Change in net position 1,439,523        

Net position, beginning of year 4,507,331        

Net position, end of year 5,946,854  $       

See notes to financial statements.

63



District Clinic Holdings, Inc.
(A Component Unit of the Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida)

Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended September 30, 2024

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from patients and third-party payors 13,260,727  $     
Payments to employees (29,890,579)     
Payments to suppliers and service providers (16,679,554)     
Other receipts 96,436             

Net cash used in operating activities (33,212,970)     

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Grants received 8,559,683        
District operating contributions 25,147,405      

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 33,707,088      

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Interest payments on leases and SBITA (192,146)          
Principal payments on leases and SBITA (690,332)          
Interest income 1,943     

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (880,535)          

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (386,417)          

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 386,417           

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year -$          

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Operating loss (34,612,484)  $    
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in

operating activities:
Provision for bad debts 5,135,689        
Depreciation and amortization expense 1,070,026       
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Patient accounts receivable (5,255,406)       
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (14,994)            
Accounts payable 841        
Accrued salaries and benefits 330,582           
Unearned grant revenue 333        
Accrued compensated absences 122,750           
Estimated self-insured liability (690)       
Other postemployment benefits liabilities (26,863)            
Deferred inflows of resources 36,096             
Deferred outflows of resources 1,150     

Net cash used in operating activities (33,212,970)  $    

See notes to financial statements.
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District Clinic Holdings, Inc. 
(A Component Unit of the Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

 

Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Organization: District Clinic Holdings, Inc., doing business as C.L. Brumback Primary Care Clinics (the 
Clinics), is a Florida, nonprofit corporation created on July 31, 2012, by the Health Care District of Palm 
Beach County, Florida (the District) for purposes of operating primary care, behavior health and dental 
clinics in Palm Beach County, Florida. 

The Clinics� four initial locations in Belle Glade, Lantana/Lake Worth, Delray Beach and West Palm Beach 
were operated by the Florida Department of Health of Palm Beach County (the Health Department) until 
the operations were assumed by the District in June 2013. The Clinics later expanded their footprint to 
include ten locations and have expanded services, including dental services and behavior health 
services. Additional locations added included the Palm Beach Lakes High School Clinic (RAMS Clinic; 
2014), Lewis Center (2015), Jerome Golden Center (2015), Lake Worth Clinic (2015), West Boca Raton 
(2017), Jupiter (2017), Mangonia Park (2019) and St. Ann Place (2021). The RAMS (2017) and Jerome 
Golden (2018) locations were later closed. Two mobile vans were purchased in 2020 to provide services 
during the COVID-19 pandemic and are currently being used to provide access to the homeless 
population. 

The District receives federal grants from the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) to 
operate the Clinics as Federally Qualified Health Center Primary Care Clinics. Federally Qualified Health 
Centers (FQHCs) include all organizations receiving grants under Section 330 of the Public Health 
Service Act (PHSA). FQHCs qualify for enhanced reimbursement from Medicare and Medicaid, as well as 
other benefits. FQHCs must serve an underserved area or population, offer a sliding fee scale, provide 
comprehensive services, have an ongoing quality assurance program and have a governing board of 
directors. The main purpose of the FQHC Program is to be a �safety net� provider and enhance the 
provision of primary care services in underserved urban and rural communities. 

The governing board of the FQHC is legally responsible for ensuring that the FQHC complies with 
federal, state and local laws and regulations and is financially viable. The board must include a majority 
(at least 51%) of active, registered users of the FQHCs who are representative of the populations served 
by the center(s). The governing board ensures that the FQHCs are community based and responsive to 
the community�s health care needs. The Clinics are governed by the District Clinic Holdings, Inc. Board of 
Directors who are responsible for administering and managing the operations of the FQHCs of the Clinics 
in accordance with Section 330 of the PHSA. The District�s governing board retains fiscal and personnel 
policy authority for the Clinics. District Clinic Holdings, Inc. is an affiliate entity of the District. Therefore, 
the Clinics is considered a blended component unit of the District. The District was created by the Florida 
Legislature pursuant to Chapter 2003-326, Laws of Florida (the Health Care Act), and by the affirmative 
vote of the residents of Palm Beach County, Florida. The District�s general purpose is to provide quality 
health care services in a comprehensive and efficient manner throughout Palm Beach County, as more 
fully set forth in the Health Care Act. 

Basis of accounting: The Clinics uses proprietary fund accounting and follows all relevant 
pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). Revenues and expenses 
are recognized on the accrual basis using the economic resources measurement focus. Under this 
method, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred. 

Use of estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Significant estimates include the allowances for contractual discounts and 
doubtful accounts. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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District Clinic Holdings, Inc. 
(A Component Unit of the Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida) 

Notes to Financial Statements  

 

Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Cash and cash equivalents: All of the Clinics� operating accounts are pooled into a common interest-
bearing account with the District, consisting of deposits with financial institutions. The Clinics considers 
cash, deposits with financial institutions and short-term investments with an original maturity of three 
months or less when purchased to be cash and cash equivalents. 

Patient accounts receivable: Patient accounts receivable are reported at estimated net realizable 
amounts due from patients, third-party payors and others for medical and dental services rendered. 
Throughout the year, management assesses the adequacy of the Clinics� estimates, including those 
related to bad debt and contractual discounts. The accounting policies related to the Clinics� overall 
determination of net patient accounts receivable are described in the paragraphs that follow. 

Allowance for doubtful accounts: The Clinics� ability to collect outstanding receivables from patients, 
third-party payors and others is critical to its operating performance and cash flows. The primary 
collection risk lies with uninsured patient accounts or patient accounts for which a balance remains after 
government payors or primary insurance has paid. For the year ended September 30, 2024, the Clinics� 
policy with respect to estimating its allowance for doubtful accounts is to reserve at rates that represent 
historical collections which was approximately 89.2% of all self-pay accounts receivable. The Clinics 
continually monitors its accounts receivable balances and utilizes cash collections data and other analysis 
to support the basis for its estimates of the allowance for doubtful accounts.  

The Clinics does not pursue collection of amounts related to patients who qualify for charity care under its 
guidelines. As such, charity care accounts do not affect the allowance for doubtful accounts. Significant 
changes in the payor mix, business office operations or deterioration in aging accounts receivable could 
result in a significant increase in this allowance. 

Allowance for contractual discounts: The Clinics estimates the allowance for contractual discounts on 
a payor-specific basis, given its interpretation of the applicable regulations or contract terms. It is 
additionally estimated based on management�s assessment of historical collections, considering business 
and economic conditions, trends in health care coverage and other collection indicators. However, the 
services authorized and provided and the resulting reimbursement are often subject to interpretation. 
These interpretations sometimes result in payments that differ from the Clinics� estimates. Additionally, 
updated regulations and contract negotiations occur periodically, necessitating regular review and 
assessment of the estimation process. 

As of September 30, 2024, the percentage of gross patient accounts receivable covered by Medicare & 
Medicaid, patients and insurance & others was approximately 28%t, 48% and 24%, respectively.  

Grant receivable: As of September 30, 2024, the Clinics had grant receivables of approximately 
$2,150,000, of which, approximately 68% was due from HRSA. 
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District Clinic Holdings, Inc. 
(A Component Unit of the Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida) 

Notes to Financial Statements  

 

Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Capital assets: Capital assets are recorded at historical cost. Capital assets contributed by the District 
are recorded at the District�s carrying value. Assets contributed by others are recorded at acquisition 
value on the date contributed. Capital assets include computer software, furniture, fixtures, equipment 
and right-to-use leased and Subscription Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITA) assets. 
The Clinics defines capital assets as assets with an initial cost of at least $5,000 and an estimated useful 
life of one year or greater. Capital assets used in operations are depreciated over the estimated useful 
lives of the respective assets on a straight-line basis. Amortization expense of right-to-use leased and 
SBITA assets, is included in depreciation and amortization expense. Gains and losses on dispositions of 
capital assets are recorded in the period of disposal. The estimated useful lives for computer software 
range from 3 to 10 years and for furniture, fixtures and equipment range from 3 to 20 years and generally 
conform to those recommended by the American Hospital Association. 

The Clinics evaluates capital assets regularly for impairment. If circumstances suggest that assets may 
be impaired, an assessment of recoverability is performed prior to any write-down of the assets. An 
impairment charge is recorded on those assets or groups of assets for which the estimated fair value is 
below its carrying amount. The Clinics has not recorded any impairment charges in the accompanying 
statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position for the year ended. 

Leases: The Clinics is a lessee for noncancellable leases of equipment and building space. The Clinics 
recognizes a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use leased asset (lease asset) on the financial 
statements.  

At the commencement of the lease, the Clinics initially measures the lease liability at the present value of 
payments expected to be made during the lease term. Subsequently, the lease liability is reduced by the 
principal portion of lease payments made. The lease asset is initially measured as the initial amount of 
the lease liability, adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease commencement date, plus 
certain initial direct costs. Subsequently, the lease asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over its 
useful life. 

Key estimates and judgements related to leases include how the Clinics determines: (1) the discount rate 
it uses to discount the expected lease payments to present value, (2) lease term, and (3) lease payments. 

The Clinics uses estimated incremental borrowing rates, which is the estimate of the interest rate that
would be charged for borrowing the lease payment amounts during the lease term.

The lease term includes the noncancellable period of the lease. Lease payments included in the
measurement of the lease liability are composed of fixed payments and the purchase option price that
the Clinics is reasonably certain to exercise.

The Clinics is not a lessor in any transaction. 

The Clinics monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its lease and will 
remeasure the lease asset and liability if certain changes occur that are expected to significantly affect 
the amount of the lease liability. 

Lease and SBITA assets are reported as right-to-use leased and SBITA assets on the statement of net 
position. The related lease liabilities are reported as lease and SBITA payables on the statement of net 
position. 
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District Clinic Holdings, Inc. 
(A Component Unit of the Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida) 

Notes to Financial Statements  

 

Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Net position: The Clinics reports net position categories in accordance with GASB standards: Net 
investment in capital assets, restricted net position and unrestricted net position. Net investment in capital 
assets consists of right-to-use, SBITA and capital assets net of accumulated depreciation and 
amortization, reduced by the balance of any outstanding debt (including lease and SBITA payables) used 
to finance the purchase or construction of those assets. Restricted net position consists of assets that 
have constraints placed on them externally by creditors, grantors, contributors, regulations or imposed by 
law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation, reduced by liabilities payable from those 
assets. The Clinics has no restricted net position for the year ended. Unrestricted net position consists of 
remaining assets/deferred outflows less liabilities/deferred inflows of resources that do not meet the 
definition of net investment in capital assets or restricted net position. 

Net patient service revenue: The Clinics serve patients whose medical costs are not paid at established 
rates. These include patients sponsored under government programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, 
patients sponsored under private contractual agreements and uninsured patients who have limited ability 
to pay. Contractual discounts under third-party reimbursement programs represent the difference 
between the established rates for services and amounts reimbursed by third-party payors and are 
included as a reduction of patient service revenue. The Clinics present its provision for bad debts as a 
direct reduction of patient service revenue. 

For the year ended September 30, 2024, the percentage of net patient service revenue covered by 
Medicare & Medicaid, patients and insurance & others was approximately 15%, 45% and 40%, 
respectively.  

Net patient service revenue is reported at the estimated net realizable amounts from patients, third-party 
payors, and others for services rendered and includes estimated retroactive revenue adjustments due to 
future audits, reviews and investigations. Retroactive adjustments are considered in the recognition of 
revenue on an estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered, and such amounts are 
adjusted in future periods when adjustments become known or as years are no longer subject to audits, 
reviews and investigations. 

Net patient service revenue: The Clinics� gross patient charges, charity adjustments, provision for 
doubtful account, and contractual adjustments for the year ended, are as follows: 

Patient service revenue:
Medicare and Medicaid 6,666,657  $     
Self-pay patients 19,092,219       
Insurance and others 17,464,746       

Total patient revenue 43,223,622     

Contractual adjustment (11,461,390)    
Charity care adjustment (13,246,432)    
Provision for doubtful accounts (5,135,689)      

Total net patient service revenue 13,380,111  $   
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District Clinic Holdings, Inc. 
(A Component Unit of the Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida) 

Notes to Financial Statements  

 

Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Medicare: Payments to the Clinics for Medicare patients changed to a prospective payment system 
(PPS) effective October 1, 2014, as mandated by the Affordable Care Act of 2010. The Centers for 
Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) established a base rate as of October 1, 2014 of $158.85. A 
Geographic Adjustment Factor (GAF) is applied to the base rate based on where the services are 
provided. In addition, the GAF-adjusted rate may also be affected by additional adjustment factors, such 
as new patients. Generally, the Medicare PPS payment to the Clinics is equal to 80% of the lesser of the 
Clinics� charges or the PPS rate. The remaining 20% is the responsibility of the patient and/or the patients 
coinsurance. Effective January 1, 2024, the base rate was increased to $195.99. 

Medicaid: Services rendered to Medicaid beneficiaries are paid primarily based upon the Clinics� FQHC 
Medicaid encounter rate, adjusted effective October 1st of each year by percentage increases in the 
Medicare Economic Index. 

Commercial providers: The Clinics also has reimbursement agreements with certain commercial 
insurance carriers and health maintenance organizations. The basis for reimbursement under these 
agreements includes prospectively determined rates per discharge, discounts from established charges, 
prospectively determined per diem rates and capitation. Settlements are not expected to vary materially 
from the estimated amounts recorded in the accompanying financial statements. 

Charity care: The Clinics� mission is to provide high quality, affordable health care to the greater Palm 
Beach County, Florida community. In pursuing its commitment to serve all members of the community, 
the Clinics provides services to the financially disadvantaged, despite the lack or adequacy of payment 
for its services. The Clinics maintains records to identify and report the level of charity care it provides to 
the community. These records include the amount of charges foregone for health care services and 
supplies furnished under the Clinics� charity care guidelines. 

The Clinics provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under its charity care guidelines without 
charge or at amounts less than its established rates. Because the Clinics does not anticipate payment 
and does not pursue collection of amounts determined to qualify as charity care, such amounts are not 
reported as revenue. The cost of providing this care, determined by applying the Uniform Data System 
(UDS)-calculated cost per medical or dental visit times the number of applicable charity care visits, was 
approximately $13,246,000 for the year ended. 

Disproportionate share distributions: The Low-Income Pool (LIP) program is a federal matching 
program that provides the State with the opportunity to receive additional federal distributions based on a 
capped annual allotment, which is distributed by the State to participating health care providers for eligible 
services. Local governments, such as counties, hospital districts and the Florida Department of Health 
provide funding for the nonfederal share of the LIP distributions. Revenues from the LIP program are 
reported as net patient service revenue in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and 
changes in net position, net of the required quarterly assessments owed by the Clinics, which are accrued 
in the fiscal year for which the assessments are made. For the year ended September 30, 2024, the 
Clinics recorded revenues of approximately $2,133,000 and there were no assessments. The receipt of 
future distributions is contingent upon the continued support of the program by the federal and state 
governments. 
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Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Incentive program revenues: During the year ended September 30, 2024, the Clinics recognized 
approximately $82,000, which is reported within other operating revenues, as a result of a shared 
revenue saving incentive program with an insurance payor. The incentive payment was associated with 
patient activity from the calendar year ended December 31, 2023 and was calculated using a targeted 
medical loss ratio. The Clinics were not able to estimate the targeted medical loss ratio for the nine-month 
period ended September 30, 2024, and as a result, was not able to estimate the associated incentive 
payment to be received, if any. The shared revenue saving incentive program does not subject the Clinics 
to the potential to repay amounts already received from patient services. 

Operating revenues and expenses: The Clinics� statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net 
position distinguish between operating and non-operating revenues and expenses. Operating revenues 
result from exchange transactions associated with providing health care services, the Clinics� principal 
activity. Nonexchange revenues, including interest income, grants, contributions and other unrestricted 
revenues are reported as non-operating revenues. Gifts, grants and contributions of capital assets or 
such amounts restricted by donors for the acquisition of capital assets are reported as capital 
contributions. Operating expenses include all expenses incurred to provide health care services, other 
than financing costs. 

Grant revenue: Grant revenue is recorded when allowable expenses are incurred, and all applicable 
program requirements have been met. Grant funds received in advance of meeting all requirements are 
reported as unearned grant revenue. 

Compensated absences: The Clinics� employees earn paid time off (with no distinction between 
holiday, vacation, personal days and other absences) at varying rates depending on years of service and 
position. Employees may accumulate a maximum of 400 hours of paid time off. Upon termination, 
employees are paid all time off accrued but not used at the current rate of pay. The estimated amount of 
paid time off available as termination payments is reported as a current liability. The Clinics estimates 
additional amounts due within one year based upon historical trends. 

Risk management: The Clinics is exposed to various risks of loss from torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; business interruption; errors and omissions; employee injuries and illnesses; 
natural disasters; medical malpractice; and employee health, dental and accident benefits. Commercial 
insurance coverage is purchased for claims arising from such matters to the extent such claims are not 
covered by sovereign immunity. The Clinics is deemed covered under the Federal Tort Claims Act for 
professional liability claims (see Note 9). Settled claims have not exceeded the Clinics� commercial 
coverage from inception through September 30, 2024. 

Recent accounting pronouncements: In June 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 100, Accounting 
Changes and Error Corrections�an amendment of GASB Statement No. 62. The statement improves the 
accounting and financial reporting requirements for accounting changes and error corrections to provide 
more understandable, reliable, relevant, consistent, and comparable information for making decisions or 
assessing accountability. Effective October 1, 2023, the Clinics adopted this Statement with no material 
effect.
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Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

In June 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences. The statement improves 
the information needs of financial statement users by updating the recognition and measurement 
guidance for compensated absences. That objective is achieved by aligning the recognition and 
measurement guidance under a unified model and by amending certain previously required disclosures. 
The requirements of this statement will be effective for the Clinics beginning with its fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2025. Management is currently evaluating the impact of this new guidance on its financial 
statements. 

Note 2. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Clinics has pooled cash with the District�s common interest-bearing concentration account, as well as 
maintains three separate bank accounts for the year ended. See the District�s Annual Financial Report for 
disclosures relating to its interest rate risk, credit risk, custodial credit risk, concentration of credit risk and 
related fair value measurement disclosures required by GASB. 

Note 3. Patient Accounts Receivable 

Patient accounts receivable, reported as current assets by the Clinics at year-end consist of the following 
amounts: 

Patient accounts receivable:
Medicare and Medicaid 2,467,444  $     
Self-pay patients 4,341,881         
Insurance and others 2,159,990         

Total patient accounts receivable 8,969,315       
Less allowance for contractual discounts (2,169,753)      
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (4,440,017)      

Patient accounts receivable, net 2,359,545  $     

Note 4. Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity for the year ended follows: 

Balance Balance
September 30, Transfers and Transfers and September 30,

2023 Additions Deletions 2024
Capital assets:

Construction in progress (nondepreciable) 500,000  $           2,248,173  $        (126,570)  $          2,621,603  $        
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 4,585,670          340,284         52,941     4,978,895       

Total cost 5,085,670          2,588,457      (73,629)        7,600,498       

Less accumulated depreciation:
Furniture, fixtures and equipment (1,645,436)           (387,284)           (70,029)        (2,102,749)         

Capital assets, net 3,440,234  $        2,201,173  $        (143,658)  $          5,497,749  $        

71



District Clinic Holdings, Inc. 
(A Component Unit of the Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 5. Right-to-Use and SBITA Assets and Liabilities 

The Clinic is a lessee for various noncancellable leases for buildings and has entered into SBITAs to use 
vendor-provided information technology intangible assets. The Clinics utilizes SBITAs to provide specific 
social and healthcare services to patients. 

Right-to-use lease and SBITA assets activity for the year ended are summarized as follows: 

Balance Balance
September 30, September 30,

2023 Additions Deletions 2024
Right-to-use leased and SBITA assets:

Building leased 5,509,730  $        -$      (44,552) $    5,465,178  $        
SBITA assets 194,407        - -      194,407        

Total right-to-use leased and SBITA assets 5,704,137     - (44,552) 5,659,585     

Less accumulated amortization for:
Building leased (771,977)    (663,024)       - (1,435,001) 
SBITA assets (168,117)    (19,718)         - (187,835) 

Total accumulated amortization (940,094)    (682,742)       - (1,622,836) 
Total right-to-use leased and SBITA assets, net 4,764,043  $        (682,742)  $          (44,552) $      4,036,749  $        

Right-to-use lease and SBITA liabilities activity for the year ended are summarized as follows: 

Balance Balance
September 30, September 30,

2023 Additions Deletions 2024
Liabilities:

Building leased 4,926,452  $        -$     (565,502)  $        4,360,950  $        
SBITA 124,830      - (124,830) -   

Total lease and SBITA payable 5,051,282  $        -$     (690,332)  $        4,360,950  $        

The future principal and interest payments due on the right-to-use and SBITA liabilities are as follows: 

Principal Interest Total
Fiscal year ending September 30:

2025 566,159  $     189,118 $     755,277  $           
2026 610,515    163,951     774,466        
2027 530,082    138,070     668,152        
2028 393,044    117,648     510,692        
2029 425,698    98,275       523,973        
Thereafter 1,835,452       172,020     2,007,472     

Totals 4,360,950  $        879,082 $     5,240,032  $        
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Note 6. Compensated Absences 

Compensated absences liability activity for the year ended follows: 

Balance Balance Amount
October 1, September 30, Due Within

2023 Additions Deletions 2024 One Year

Compensated absences 1,335,942  $     2,706,748  $       (2,583,998)  $        1,458,692  $    306,915 $        

Note 7. Related Party Transactions 

The Clinics� operations are financially dependent on the District. The Clinics received approximately 
$25,147,000 in operating contributions and $2,462,000 in capital contributions from the District in fiscal 
year 2024. 

The Clinics reported approximately $16,665,000 as fiscal and general administrative services expenses in 
the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. The District allocated approximately 
$10,158,000 of support department costs to the Clinics, including personnel, purchasing, information 
technology, legal and administrative costs that are included in the fiscal and general administrative 
services expenses total for the year ended. 

Note 8. Retirement Plans 

Defined contribution plan: In October 1990, the District established the Health Care District of Palm 
Beach County 401(a) Retirement Plan (the Plan), a defined contribution pension plan that covers 
employees of the District and its wholly owned affiliates, including the Clinics� employees not participating 
in the Florida Retirement System (FRS) Plan who are 18 years of age or older and have completed one 
year of service. The Plan is administered by Empower Retirement. For employees hired after 
September 30, 2012, the District contributes 4% for general employees, 5% for Associate Vice Presidents 
and 6% for Vice Presidents of eligible compensation to the Plan and also makes matching contributions 
equal to 100% of the participants� elective deferrals up to 4%, 5% and 6% of eligible compensation based 
on job title, as listed above. The District contributes 15% of eligible compensation for employees hired 
prior to October 1, 2012. Contribution rates and benefits of the Plan are established by and may be 
amended by the District Board. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, the Clinics contributed 
$1,243,303, to the Plan for its employees which is recorded within medical services expense in the 
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. Employees who terminate after 
December 12, 2019, are fully vested after 3 years of service. 

District deferred compensation plan: The District also established and provides its employees, 
including the Clinics� employees, with access to a 457(b) deferred compensation plan named the Health 
Care District of Palm Beach County Deferred Compensation 457(b) and Roth 457(b) plan. Under this 
plan, an employee is able to contribute pre-tax wage/salary dollars into the 457(b) account and/or post-
tax wage and salary dollars into the Roth 457(b). The 457(b) Plan is administered by Empower 
Retirement. An employee can defer up to $23,000 of eligible compensation or $30,500 annually for 
employees aged 50 and over. These limits are subject to change each year. No contributions are required 
of the District. Contribution rates and benefits of the 457(b) and Roth 457(b) Plan are established by and 
may be amended by the District Board.
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Note 9. Commitments and Contingencies 

District and Health Department Master Agreement: The District entered into a Master Agreement with 
the Florida Department of Health of Palm Beach County (the Health Department), effective October 1, 
2013, whereby the District assumed the financial, administrative and operational responsibility for 
providing adult and pediatric primary care services to patients formerly served by the Health Department 
through their FQHC locations in Palm Beach County. The agreement was extended through June 30, 
2025. 

Pursuant to the Master Agreement, the District operates the clinic locations and accounts for all 
operational activities through the Clinics. As of fiscal year end the Lantana/Lake Worth Health Center 
facility location is owned by Palm Beach County, and the West Palm Beach Health Center facility location 
is owned by the State of Florida. Both locations are utilized by the District without rent. The District pays 
the Health Department for common expenses incurred by the Health Department for the facilities based 
on the pro rata square footage used by the District and the Health Department. The total annual common 
expenses for the facilities paid by the District were approximately $724,000 for the year ended 
September 30, 2024, including costs related to space for the District�s pharmacy and eligibility offices. 
The portion of the costs allocated to the Clinics was approximately $654,000 for the year ended 
September 30, 2024. 

Professional and general liability claims: The Clinics is subject to risk of loss arising in the ordinary 
course of business, including claims for damages from medical malpractice, personal injuries, 
employment-related claims, breach of management contracts and wrongful restriction of or interference 
with physicians� staff privileges. In certain of these actions, plaintiffs may seek punitive or other damages 
against the Clinics, which are generally not covered by insurance. As a FQHC, the Clinics is deemed 
covered under the Federal Tort Claims Act (FTCA) for professional liability claims. Under the Act, health 
centers are considered Federal entities and are immune from lawsuits, with the Federal government 
acting as their primary insurer. FTCA coverage is comparable to an �occurrence� policy without a 
monetary cap. 

The Clinics, with respect to general liability and breach of contract claims, are entitled to sovereign 
immunity under Florida law. For tort actions (with claims arising on or after October 1, 2011), Florida 
Statutes, Section 768.28 has a limited waiver of sovereign immunity. Therefore, the District�s liability for 
tort is limited to $200,000 per claim and $300,000 in the aggregate. Additionally, on June 1, 2015, the 
District obtained an umbrella liability policy for coverage in excess of the self-insured retention levels of 
$500,000 for each incident or loss and $850,000 in the aggregate. The District has insurance policies for 
employers liability, commercial property insurance and business automobile liability exposures. 
Judgments may be claimed or rendered in excess of the sovereign immunity limits; however, the District 
cannot be liable for such excess amounts unless the claim/judgment is presented to and approved by the 
Florida legislature (i.e., claims bill). The umbrella policy, with aggregate limits of $10 million, only 
responds in the event a covered loss results in a claims bill that is approved by the Legislature, or the 
annual aggregate is met. 

The Clinic�s management, in consultation with legal counsel, believes all general liability claims are 
covered by insurance or limited under sovereign immunity and will not have any significant impact on the 
financial condition of the District in excess of the amounts accrued at September 30, 2024. At 
September 30, 2024, the Clinics accrued approximately $4,000, for professional and general liability 
claims. No settlements exceeded insurance coverage during the past three fiscal years.
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Note 9. Commitments and Contingencies (Continued) 

Grants and other federal funding: The grant and other federal funding revenues received or 
receivable by the Clinics are subject to audit and adjustment by the grantor agencies, principally the 
federal government. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already received, might constitute a 
liability of the Clinics for the return of those funds. Management believes that all grant expenditures were 
in compliance with the terms of the grant and applicable federal laws and regulations. 

Compliance with laws and regulations: The health care industry is subject to voluminous and 
complex laws and regulations of federal, state and local governments. These laws and regulations 
include, but are not necessarily limited to, matters such as licensure, accreditation, government 
healthcare program participation requirements, reimbursement for patient services, anti-kickback and 
anti-referral laws, false claims prohibitions and Medicare and Medicaid fraud and abuse. In addition, as a 
government entity, the Clinics is also subject to the laws and regulations related to its tax exemption. 
Compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to future government review and 
interpretation, as well as regulatory actions that are unknown or unasserted at this time. Violations of 
these laws and regulations could result in significant fines and penalties, including repayments for patient 
services previously reimbursed. Management believes that the Clinics has generally complied with 
applicable laws and regulations that could have a material impact on the financial statements of the 
Clinics and is not aware of any pending or threatened investigations involving allegations of potential 
wrongdoing or noncompliance. 

Note 10. Other Postemployment Benefits 

The Clinics follow GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions for financial reporting and disclosure for its other postemployment benefits 
plan (OPEB Plan).  

Plan description: The Clinics participates in the District�s single-employer OPEB Plan that provides 
health care benefits to eligible retired employees and their spouses and/or beneficiaries. The District 
Board has the authority to establish and amend the premiums for and the benefit provisions of the OPEB 
Plan. The OPEB Plan is financed on a �pay as you go� basis and is not administered as a formal 
qualifying trust. The OPEB Plan does not issue a stand-alone publicly available financial report. 

Funding policy: The Clinics is required by Florida Statutes, Section 112.0801 to allow retirees to buy 
health care coverage at the same group insurance rates that current employees are charged, resulting in 
an implicit health care benefit. Florida law prohibits the OPEB Plan from separately rating retirees and 
active employees. The OPEB Plan therefore charges both groups an equal, blended rate premium for 
health insurance. Although both groups are charged the same blended rate premium, GAAP requires the 
actuarial liability to be calculated using age-adjusted premiums approximating claim costs for retirees 
separately from active employees. The use of age-adjusted premiums results in the addition of the implicit 
rate subsidy into the actuarial accrued liability. Plan members receiving benefits contribute 100% of the 
monthly medical premium, which currently ranges from a minimum of $850 to a maximum of $2,609. 

District employees covered by benefit terms: At October 1, 2023, there were four retirees and 799 
active plan members covered by the benefit terms for the overall District. 

Total OPEB Liability: The Clinics� allocated proportionate share of the District�s total OPEB liability was 
$78,433 for the year ended September 30, 2024. The September 30, 2024 total OPEB liability was 
measured based on an actuarial valuation as of October 1, 2023.
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Note 10. Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued) 

The total OPEB liability in the October 1, 2023 actuarial valuation projected to September 30, 2024, was 
determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in 
the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 

Salary increases 3%

Investment rate of return Not applicable. The plan is not funded.

Discount rate 4.06%

Healthcare cost trend rates 7.50% in 2023-2024, graded down to 4.5% by 0.25% per year

Mortality Pub-2010 Headcount weighted mortality table for general, public 
employer, annuitant and non-annuitant, sex distinct with 2024 IRS 
adjusted MP-2021

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was based on a 20-year AA/Aa tax-exempt 
municipal bond yield. 

The discount rate was decreased from 4.87% for the year ended September 30, 2023, to 4.06% for the 
year ended September 30, 2024. 

The following provides the changes to the total OPEB liability for the year ended: 

Beginning balance 105,296  $        
Service cost  10,976           
Interest 5,487   
Difference between expected and actual experience (45,464)          
Changes of assumptions 5,755   
Implicit benefit payments (3,617)            

Net changes (26,863)          
Ending balance 78,433  $          

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the total 
OPEB liability of the Clinics, as well as what the Clinics� total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the discount rate 
for the year ended September 30, 2024: 

1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase 
3.06% Rate 4.06% 5.06%

Total OPEB Liability 84,955  $      78,433  $                72,726  $              

Discount Rate
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Note 10. Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued) 

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates. The following 
presents the total OPEB liability of the Clinics, as well as what the Clinics� total OPEB liability would be if it 
were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point 
higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates for the year ended September 30, 2024: 

1% Decrease Current Trend 1% Increase
6.50% Rate 7.50% Rate 8.50%

Total OPEB Liability 72,097  $      78,433  $                85,558  $              

Trend Rate

OPEB Expense and Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources Related to OPEB 
The Clinics recognized OPEB expense of $14,000 for the year ended September 30, 2024. At 
September 30, 2024, the Clinics reported deferred inflows and outflows of resources for changes in 
assumptions and experience losses of $66,853 and $45,186, respectively, related to the OPEB plan. 

Amounts reported as deferred inflows and outflows of resources related to the OPEB plan will be 
recognized in OPEB expenses on a straight-line basis over the next 10 years. 

Note 11. Subsequent Event 

Presidential executive orders: In January 2025 several executive orders were signed by President 
Trump that could impact federal financial assistance. Federal agencies have been tasked with reviewing 
their federal programs to ensure they align with the President�s policy priorities. The Clinics receive 
various federal grants and payments that could be subject to the abovementioned executive orders. The 
Clinics do not believe any loss of funding would be material to its financial statements, however the 
implication of these executive orders is not fully known at the date these financial statements were 
issued. Total federal funding as of September 30, 2024 was approximately $8,673,000. Accounts 
receivable associated with federal grants as of September 30, 2024 was approximately $1,472,000 and 
was collected subsequent to year end. 
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance  
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements  

Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing Standards 

Independent Auditor�s Report 

Board of Directors 
District Clinic Holdings, Inc. 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial 
statements of District Clinic Holdings, Inc. (the Clinics), a component unit of the Health Care District of 
Palm Beach County, Florida, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2024, and the related notes to 
the financial statements which collectively comprise the Clinics� basic financial statements, and have 
issued our report thereon dated March 10, 2025. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Clinics� internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Clinics� internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Clinics� internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity�s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Clinics� financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on 
the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
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Purpose of This Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Clinics� internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Clinics� internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.  

West Palm Beach, Florida 
March 10, 2025 
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on  
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 

Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing Standards 

Independent Auditor�s Report 

Members of the Board of Commissioners 
Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial 
statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented 
component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Health Care 
District of Palm Beach County, Florida (the District), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2024, 
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District�s basic financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated March 10, 2025. The financial statements of the 
Good Health Foundation, Inc. were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards, and 
accordingly, this report does not include reporting on internal control over financial reporting or instances 
of reportable noncompliance associated with the Good Health Foundation, Inc. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District�s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District�s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District�s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity�s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 

85



 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District�s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on 
the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported 
under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of This Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity�s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity�s internal control and compliance. 
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.  

West Palm Beach, Florida  
March 10, 2025
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Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program; Report on Internal Control 
Over Compliance; and Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards  

Required by the Uniform Guidance 

Independent Auditor�s Report 

Members of the Board of Commissioners 
Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida  

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program 

Opinion on the Major Federal Program 
We have audited the Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida�s (the District) compliance with 
the types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance 
Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on the District�s major federal program for the 
year ended September 30, 2024. The District�s major federal program is identified in the summary of 
auditor�s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

In our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to 
above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal program for the year ended 
September 30, 2024. 

Basis for Opinion on the Major Federal Program 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in 
the Auditor�s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for the major 
federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the District�s compliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above.   

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the 
District�s federal programs. 

87



 

Auditor�s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the District�s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from 
fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on 
compliance about the District�s compliance with the requirements of the major federal program as a 
whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, we 

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the District�s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to
above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

Obtain an understanding of the District�s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal
control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District�s internal control over compliance.
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in 
internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor�s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, 
as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
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The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance  
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the 
discretely presented component unit, each major fund, the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
District as of and for the year ended September 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the District�s basic financial statements. We have issued our 
report thereon dated March 10, 2025, which contained unmodified opinions on those financial statements. 
Our audit was performed for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards 
is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a 
required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and 
was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In 
our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in 
relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

West Palm Beach, Florida 
March 10, 2025
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Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida 

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards  

 

Note 1.  Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the Schedule) includes the federal 
award activity of the Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida (the District) under programs of 
the federal government for the year ended September 30, 2024. The information in the Schedule is 
presented in accordance with the requirements of the Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, 
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards 
(Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the 
District, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in fund balance/net 
position or cash flows of the District. 

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The Schedule is presented using the modified accrual basis of accounting for expenditures accounted for 
in the governmental funds and on the accrual basis of accounting for expenses of the proprietary fund 
types, which are described in Note 1 to the District�s basic financial statements. Such 
expenditures/expenses are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, 
wherein certain types of expenditures/expenses are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. 

Note 3. Indirect Cost Rate 

The District elected not to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform 
Guidance. 

Note 4. Subrecipient Awards 

Of the federal awards presented in the Schedule, the District did not provide any amounts to subrecipients. 
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Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 

Section I - Summary of Auditor's Results

Financial Statements

Type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial 

statements audited were prepared in accordance with GAAP:  

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? Yes X None Reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? Yes X No

Federal Awards

Internal control over major federal program:

Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? Yes X None Reported

Type of auditor�s report issued on compliance for

the major federal program:

Any audit findings disclosed that are required

to be reported in accordance with Section

2 CFR 200.516(a)? Yes X No

Identification of major federal program:

Assistance Listing Numbers

93.224 and 93.527

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type 

A and type B programs:

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X Yes No

(Continued)

Unmodified

Unmodified

Name of Federal Program or Cluster

750,000  $           

Health Center Program Cluster

92



Health Care District of Palm Beach County, Florida 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued) 
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 

Section II � Financial Statement Findings 

None reported. 

Section III � Federal Awards Findings and Questioned Costs 

None reported. 

Section IV � Summary of Prior Year Audit Findings 

The prior year single audit disclosed no findings in the Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs and 
no uncorrected or unresolved findings exist from the prior audit�s Summary Schedule of Prior Year Audit 
Findings. 
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DISTRICT CLINIC HOLDINGS, INC. 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

March 26, 2025 

1. Description: Sliding Fee Discount Policy

2. Summary:

This agenda item provides the sliding fee scale policy for the community health
center, which includes expanding pharmacy services.

3. Substantive Analysis:

Operationalize pharmacy billing in 2025 at the 5 CHC pharmacies for our
patients with or without insurance to secure HCD financial sustainability,
broaden service offerings, and ensure our ability to meet evolving patient
needs.

4. Fiscal Analysis & Economic Impact Statement:

Current FY
Amounts

Total Amounts
(Current + Future)

Budget

Capital Requirements N/A Yes No
Net Operating Impact N/A Yes No

*Non-budgeted expenditures in excess of $250,000 require Finance and Audit Committee review and Board
approval. Reviewed for financial accuracy and compliance with purchasing procedure:

N/A
Jessica Cafarelli

VP & Chief Financial Officer

5. Reviewed/Approved by Committee:

  N/A N/A
Committee Name Date Approved
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DISTRICT CLINIC HOLDINGS, INC. 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

March 26, 2025 

6. Recommendation:

Staff recommends that the Board approve the expansion of pharmacy
services to be included within the scope of the Sliding Fee Scale Discount
Policy.

Approved for Legal sufficiency:

     Bernabe Icaza 
  SVP & General Counsel   

          Jessica Cafarelli
   VP & Chief Financial Officer

Joshua Adametz, DMD, MPH, MA 
AVP & Executive Director of Community

Health Centers
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Sliding Fee Discount Program Policy

Policy #: 501-13 Effective Date: (Enter Effective date)

Business Unit:
Revenue Cycle/Community Health 
Center

Original Effective 
Date:

2/4/2022

Approval Group: Revenue Cycle Board Approval Date: (If applicable)

PURPOSE

To assure that no patient shall be denied service due to an individual’s inability to pay.

The Sliding Fee Discount Program is designed to provide a schedule of discounts to patients with 

no or limited means to pay for medicines and health care services provided by the Health Care 

District of Palm Beach County (“District”), District Clinic Holdings, Inc. d/b/a Health Care District 

Community Health Center (“CHC”). All patients are entitled to financial assistance counseling to 

identify possible solutions and options for patients who do not have the ability to pay in full.

SCOPE

This policy applies to the Health Care District (“District”) of Palm Beach County Health Care 

District Community Health Centers (“CHC”), including Pharmacy, Finance, and Revenue Cycle 

stakeholders.

DEFINITIONS

1. Family - A family includes a householder and one or more people living in the same
household who are related to the householder by birth, marriage, or adoption. All people
in a household who are related to the householder are regarded as members of his or her
family.

2. Income - Income includes salary wages, gratuities, self-employment income, cash
assistance or support, unemployment compensation, workers’ compensation, Social
Security, Supplemental Security income, disability benefits, public assistance, military
or veterans’ benefits, survivor benefits, pension or retirement income, annuities, savings
account or other earned interest, dividends, rents, royalties, income from estates, trusts,
educational assistance, alimony, child support, assistance from outside the household,
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and any other miscellaneous monies received. Noncash benefits such as food stamps 
and housing subsidies are not counted.

POLICY

It is the policy of the Health Care District Community Health Center (“CHC”) to have a Sliding 

Fee Discount Program (“SFDP”) in accordance with section 330 of the Public Health Service 

(PHS) Act (42 U.S.C. 254b) and related guidance issued by The Health Resources and Services 

Administration (HRSA) through the Health Center Program Compliance Manual, Chapter 9, 

which outlines the "sliding fee discount program" requirements for Federally Qualified Health 

Centers (“FQHC”)/Community Health Centers (“CHC”).

The sliding fee discount program (SFDP) shall apply to all HCDCHC Medical (Pediatrics, Adult), 

Women’s Health, Behavioral Health, Dental, and Pharmacy (340B outpatient drugs), including 

ancillary services, within the HRSA-approved scope of project as well as services provided via 

formal referral arrangements which shall apply uniformly to all patients to make available 

discount services to those in need.

The HCDCHC shall not discriminate on the basis of an individual’s race, color, sex, national origin,

disability, religion, age, sexual orientation, or gender identity. All patients will be assessed for 

sliding fee discount eligibility unless the patient has declined or refused to provide such 

information.

The HCDCHC maintains a standard sliding scale fee schedule and operating procedures for 

qualifying patient discounts for services provided, which include:

1. The sliding fee discount schedule (SFDS) will be used to calculate the applicable
discount and determine eligibility and is updated annually based on the current
Federal Poverty Guidelines (“FPG”) at http://aspe.hhs.gov/poverty.

2. Sliding fee scale discounts are available to patients with all incomes at or below 200%
of the FPG. Discounts are determined based on household income and family size as
defined in this policy.

a. Individuals and families with annual incomes at or below 100 percent of the
FPG will be charged a nominal charge. These nominal charges shall not be a
barrier to accessing care and shall be based on the patient’s ability to pay.
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b. Individuals and families with annual incomes ranging from 101 percent to 150
percent of the FPG, 151 percent to 175 percent of the FPG, and 176 percent to 200
percent of the FPG shall receive a discount.

c. No sliding fee discount will be provided to individuals and families with annual
incomes above 200 percent of the Federal Poverty Guidelines.

FPL% 100% or below 101% to 150% 151% to 175% 176% to 200% Over 200%
Sliding Fee Nominal Fee Discount Discount Discount No Discount

3. It is the policy of HCDCHC to ensure that the patient's ability to pay is considered when
charging a nominal fee.

4. Patients who are eligible for the sliding fee discounts and have insurance/third-party
coverage will be charged the lesser of the patient’s liability or what they would be
charged as an uninsured sliding fee patient unless prohibited by the applicable
insurance contract.

5. The effective period for approved discounts is twelve (12) months, after which all
patients must be reassessed for income and family size.

6. Patients who do not wish to apply for a sliding fee scale discount will be asked to
attest to income and household size to be compliant with Health Center Program
Uniform Data System (“UDS”) reporting. Patients who decline and refuse a Sliding Fee
Scale assessment may be billed full charges for services.

The HCDCHC shall inform all patients of the availability of the SFDP through various methods, 

such as posting signage in the waiting area at all clinic sites, in printed material, and published 

on the HCDCHC website to include a statement that will be translated into the appropriate 

language (s)/dialect and literacy levels appropriate for the patient population. CHC shall 

clearly explain the eligibility criteria, documentation requirements, and application process to 

help patients understand and access the program.

Designated staff periodically conduct patient surveys with patients who were charged a nominal 

or discount fee, which allows patients to provide feedback about the Sliding Fee Scale Discount 

Program.
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The Board of Directors will review the Sliding Fee Discount Program Policy at least once every 

three (3) years to assess if the current sliding fee discount program is effectively addressing 

patient needs, that it does not create a barrier to care, and that the sliding fee scale is aligned 

with updated Federal Poverty Guidelines (“FPG”). The evaluation method may include, through the 

use of tools, data analysis on patient utilization within the sliding fee schedules, patient 

satisfaction surveys, focus groups, and similar methods to ensure that the sliding fee patients

of all classes are accessing services to ensure the SFDP is effectively reducing financial barriers 

to care for patients based on income levels. Corrective action will be taken to implement changes 

as needed.

The HCDCHC Sliding Fee Scale Reference Guide is attached as part of this policy for reference. 

This guide is updated each year.

EXCEPTIONS
N/A

RELATED DOCUMENTS
Related Policy Document(s) Waiver of Fee

Related Forms Sliding Fee Scale Application, CHC Sliding Fee Scale Reference Guide

Reference(s) Section 330 of the Public Health Service (PHS) Act (42 U.S.C. 254b), 
HRSA Health Center Program Compliance Manual, Chapter 9,
Sliding Fee Discount Program | Bureau of Primary Health Care

Dynamic Health/EBSCO link:

APPROVALS
Final approver Darcy Davis

Final approval date (Enter Approval Date)
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This policy is only intended to serve as a general guideline to assist staff in the delivery of patient care; it does not 
create standard(s) of care or standard(s) of practice. The final decision(s) as to patient management shall be 
based on the professional judgement of the health care providers(s) involved with the patient, taking into account the
circumstances at that time. Any references are to sources, some parts of which were reviewed in connection with 
formulation of the policy/procedure. The references are not adopted in whole or in part by the hospital(s) or clinic(s) 
/ provider(s).

The master document is controlled electronically. Printed copies of this document are not controlled. Document users 
are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use.
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SFSGUIDE_2025 

At or Below  100% 101% to 150% 151% to 175% 176% to 200% Over 200%

Family Size A B C D E

1 $15,650.00 $15,806.50 - $23,475.00 $23,631.50 - 27,387.50 $27,544.00 - $31,300.00 $31,456.50 

2 $21,150.00 $21,361.50 - $31,725.00 $31,936.50 - $37,012.50 $37,224.00 - $42,300.00 $42,511.50 

3 $26,650.00 $26,916.50 - $39,975.00 $40,241.50 - $46,637.50 $46,904.00 - $53,300.00 $53,566.50 

4 $32,150.00 $32,471.50 - $48,225.00 $48,546.50 - $56,262.50 $56,584.00 - $64,300.00 $64,621.50 

5 $37,650.00 $38,026.50 - $56,475.00 $56,851.50 - $65,887.50 $66,264.00 - $75,300.00 $75,676.50 

6 $43,150.00 $43,581.50 - $64,725.00 $65,156.50 - $75,512.50 $75,944.00 - $86,300.00 $86,731.50 

7 $48,650.00 $49,136.50- $72,975.00 $73,461.50 - $85,137.50 $85,624.00 - $97,300.00 $97,786.50 

8 $54,150.00 $54,691.50 - $81,225.00 $81,766.50 - $94,762.50 $95,304.00 - $108,300.00 $108,841.50 

100% or below 101% to 150% 151% to 175% 176% to 200%

Nominal Fee Discount Fee Discount Fee Discount Fee

Medical:
Adult, Pediatrics, 
Women's Health,

Behavioral Health

$20.00 $40.00 $60.00 $80.00 

Dental $30.00 $50.00 $70.00 $90.00 

Pharmacy $1.00 $3.00 $6.00 $8.00 

No Discount

Based on 2025 Federal Poverty Guidelines published in the Federal Register- January 17, 2025 
Discounted charges are per visit and will include lab orders. The Sliding Fee Scale is updated each calendar year.

 Patient pays at a minimum, a $1.00 nominal dispensing fee for each medication. 

Health Care District Community Health Centers  & Pharmacy

2025 SLIDING FEE SCHEDULE (SFS)

Poverty Level 
Annual Income

For families/households with more than 8 persons, add $5,500 for each additional person

Fee Schedule  Over 200%
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DISTRICT CLINIC HOLDINGS, INC.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

March  26, 2025

1. Description:  Executive Director Informational Update

2. Summary:

Sliding Fee Scale

3. Substantive Analysis:

Sliding Fee Scale: As requested, a breakout of where our patients fall on the sliding
fee scale is provided on the next page. The majority, 77.21% fall within the 100% or
below slide.

4. Fiscal Analysis & Economic Impact Statement:

*Non-budgeted expenditures in excess of $250,000 require Finance and Audit Committee review and Board approval. Reviewed for
financial accuracy and compliance with purchasing procedure:

N/A
Jessica Cafarelli

VP & Chief Financial Officer

5. Reviewed/Approved by Committee:
N/A N/A

Committee Name Date Approved

6. Recommendation:

Staff recommends the Board Receive and File the Executive Director
Informational Update.

Approved for Legal sufficiency:

        Bernabe Icaza
  SVP & General Counsel

Joshua Adametz, DMD, MPH, MA
  AVP & Executive Director of Community

        Health Centers

Current FY 
Amounts

Total Amounts
(Current + Future)

Budget

Capital Requirements N/A Yes No 
Net Operating Impact N/A Yes No 
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CHC 
Fee Schedule  

100% or 
below

101% to 150% 151% to 175% 176% to 200%
Over 200%

Nominal 
Fee

Discount Fee Discount Fee Discount Fee

Medical:
Adult, Pediatrics,
Women's Health,
Behavioral Health

$20.00 $40.00 $60.00 $80.00 
No Discount

Dental $30.00 $50.00 $70.00 $90.00 
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DISTRICT CLINIC HOLDINGS, INC.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

March 26, 2025

1. Description: Licensed Independent Practitioner Credentialing and
Privileging

2. Summary:

The agenda item represents the licensed independent practitioners recommended for
credentialing and privileging by the FQHC Medical Director.

3. Substantive Analysis:

The LIPs listed below satisfactorily completed the credentialing and privileges process
and met the standards set forth within the approved Credentialing and Privileging Policy.
The credentialing and privileging process ensures that all health center practitioners
meet specific criteria and standards of professional qualifications.  This criterion includes,
but is not limited to:

Current licensure, registration or certification
Relevant education, training and experience
Current clinical competence
Health fitness, or ability to perform the requested privileges
Malpractice history (NPDB query)
Immunization and PPD status; and
Life support training (BLS)

Last Name First Name Degree Specialty Credentialing

McCloud Derkasha LMHC Licensed Mental Health Counselor Initial Credentialing

Keys Kristen APRN Physician Assistant Initial Credentialing

Quevedo Andres APRN Nurse Practitioner Initial Credentialing

Dabu Darnel MD Family Medicine Recredentialing

Hirsch Karen LCSW Licensed Clinical Social Worker Recredentialing

Primary source and secondary source verifications were performed for credentialing and 
privileging elements in accordance with state, federal and HRSA requirements.  A 
Nationally accredited Credentials Verification Organization (CVO) was utilized to verify 
the elements requiring primary source verification.

The C.L. Brumback Primary Care Clinics utilized internal Credentialing staff and the FQHC 
medical Director to support the credentialing and privileging process. 

10



DISTRICT CLINIC HOLDINGS, INC.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

March 26, 2025

Derkasha McCloud, LMHC joined the Mobil Clinic in 2025 as a Licensed Mental Health 
Counselor. She attended Nova Southeastern University and has been in practice for three 
years. 

Kristen Keys, PA joined the Atlantis Clinic in 2025 as a Physician Assistant. She attended 
Barry University. Ms. Keys is certified as a Physician Assistant by the National Commission 
on Certification of Physician Assistants. She has been in practice for twenty-one years.

Andres Quevedo, APRN joined the Atlantis Clinic in 2025 as a Nurse Practitioner. He
attended Barry University and is certified as a Family Nurse Practitioner by The American 
Nurses Credentialing Center. He has been in practice for four years.

Darnel Dabu, MD joined the Jupiter Clinic in 2017 specializing in Family Medicine. He 
attended The University of Santo Tomas and also completed his Residency at the 
University of Arkansas College of Medicine. Dr. Dabu is certified in Family Medicine by The
American Board of Family Medicine and is also certified as a Lifestyle Medicine Physician 
by the American Board of Lifestyle Medicine. He has been in practice for fifteen years and 
is fluent in Tagalog.

Karen Hirsch, LCSW joined the West Palm Beach Clinic in 2019 as a Licensed Clinical Social 
Worker. She attended the Florida Atlantic University. She has been in practice for nine
years and is fluent in Spanish.

4. Fiscal Analysis & Economic Impact Statement:

Current FY 
Amounts

Total Amounts
(Current + Future)

Budget

Capital Requirements N/A Yes No 
Net Operating Impact N/A Yes No 

*Non-budgeted expenditures in excess of $250,000 require Finance and Audit Committee review and Board
approval. Reviewed for financial accuracy and compliance with purchasing procedure:

N/A
Jessica Cafarelli

VP & Chief Financial Officer
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DISTRICT CLINIC HOLDINGS, INC.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

March 26, 2025

5. Reviewed/Approved by Committee:

N/A N/A
Committee Name Date Approved

6. Recommendation:

Staff recommends the Board approve the Initial Credentialing and privileging of
Derkasha McCloud, Licensed Mental Health Counselor.

Staff recommends the Board approve the Initial Credentialing and privileging of Kristen 
Keys, PA, Physician Assistant. 

Staff recommends the Board approve the Initial Credentialing and privileging of Andres 
Quevedo, APRN, Family Nurse Practitioner.

Staff recommends the Board approve the Recredentialing and privileging of Darnel 
Dabu, MD, Family Medicine.

Staff recommends the Board approve the Recredentialing and privileging of Karen 
Hirsch, LCSW, Licensed Clinical Social Worker.

Approved for Legal sufficiency:

        Bernabe Icaza
  SVP & General Counsel

    Dr. Ana Ferwerda
FQHC Medical Director

Joshua Adametz, DMD, MPH, MA
AVP & Executive Director of Community

Health Centers
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DISTRICT CLINIC HOLDINGS, INC.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

March 26, 2025 

1. Description: Quality Report

2. Summary:

This agenda item presents the updated Quality Improvement & Quality Updates:

Quality Council Meeting Minutes – February 2025
UDS Report – YTD

3. Substantive Analysis:

PATIENT SAFETY & ADVERSE EVENTS
Patient safety and risk, including adverse events, peer review and chart 
review are brought to the board “under separate cover” on a quarterly basis.  

QUALITY ASSURANCE & IMPROVEMENT
Since the launch of the Luminetix Core retinal screening program on March 7, 2025, 
the initiative has shown promising early results, highlighting both its clinical value 
and operational efficiency. 
In the first week of launching our Community Health Centers have conducted a 
total of 80 screenings across participating clinics. The system has demonstrated 
exceptional accuracy, with a detection rate of 98% for early signs of retinal 
diseases, including diabetic retinopathy, glaucoma, and macular degeneration. 
Specifically, signs of diabetic retinopathy were identified in 26% of patients. The 
ability to detect these conditions at an early stage has positioned our Health 
Centers to significantly reduce the incidence of preventable vision loss.
The efficiency of the Luminetix Core system has also been noteworthy. On average, 
each screening takes under 5 minutes, minimizing patient discomfort while 
maximizing throughput. Furthermore, clinician feedback has been overwhelmingly 
positive, with healthcare providers appreciating the value of its real-time 
diagnostic insights.
Perhaps most importantly, the patient impact has been tangible. To date, 20 
patients have been referred for early intervention and treatment based on 
Luminetix Core’s findings. Early treatment is critical in preventing disease 
progression, and the estimated reduction in preventable vision loss among 
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screened patients stands at 37%, a clear indicator of the program’s success in 
improving patient outcomes.
There are opportunities to enhance and expand the program’s reach. Increasing 
screening capacity in underserved communities remains a priority. Luminetix Core 
technology could help address barriers to access, ensuring that patients in rural 
and economically disadvantaged areas benefit from early detection. Additionally, 
improving patient follow-up rates through targeted outreach and education could 
further increase the program’s long-term impact.

4. Fiscal Analysis & Economic Impact Statement:

Current FY 
Amounts

Total Amounts
(Current + 

Future)

Budget

Capital 
Requirements

N/A      Yes No 

Net Operating 
Impact

N/A      Yes No 

*Non-budgeted expenditures in excess of $250,000 require Finance and Audit Committee review and Board approval.
Reviewed for financial accuracy and compliance with purchasing procedure:

N/A
Jessica Cafarelli

VP & Chief Financial Officer

5. Reviewed/Approved by Committee:
N/A N/A

Committee Name Date Approved

6. Recommendation:

Staff recommends the Board approve the updated Quality Report.
Approved for Legal sufficiency:

          Bernabe Icaza
SVP & General Counsel

    Dr. Ana M. Ferwerda
   FQHC Medical Director

 Dr. Joshua Adametz, DMD, MPH, MA
  AVP & Executive Director of 

  FQHC Services
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1. Description:  Operations Report – February 2025

2. Summary:
This agenda item is the Operations report which provides the Heealth Center
Productivity report for February 2025.

3. Substantive Analysis:

In February, the Health Centers had a total of 8,198 unique patients and 11,664
visits across health centers which is a 12% decrease from last month but down
14% when compared to February 2024. 1,329 patients, or 16% of unique patients 
were new to the Health Centers.  36% of visits were from Adult Primary Care
and 23% were from Dental, no change from last month. 10% from Pediatrics, 
which is 2% down from last month.  In February, Delray Medical had the highest 
volume of visits, followed by Mangonia Medical and West Palm Beach Medical. 

4. Fiscal Analysis & Economic Impact Statement:

Current FY 
Amounts

Total Amounts
(Current + Future)

Budget

Capital Requirements N/A Yes No 
Net Operating Impact N/A Yes No 

*Non-budgeted expenditures in excess of $250,000 require Finance and Audit Committee review and Board
approval. Reviewed for financial accuracy and compliance with purchasing procedure:

N/A
Jessica Cafarelli

VP & Chief Financial Officer

5. Reviewed/Approved by Committee:

N/A N/A
Committee Name Date Approved

6. Recommendation:

Staff recommends the Board approve the Operations Report for October 2024.
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Approved for Legal sufficiency:

        Bernabe Icaza
  SVP & General Counsel

       Nancy Gonzalez
  Director of Specialty Operations

Joshua Adametz, DMD, MPH, MA
AVP & Executive Director of Community

Health Centers
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